2003

John A. Fericks; and C. Kurt Hoffman v. Pentad Properties, INC., and Joe Goodman : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j).

ISSUES

I. Did the trial court err in granting defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, concluding, as a matter of law, that plaintiffs could prove no exceptions to the statute of frauds applied to warrant enforcement of the oral modification of REPC?

(Issue preserved in the Record at 64-83; 165-193; 194-208; 271-77; 291-95)

Standard of Review: On appeal, the appellate court reviews the facts and inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. See Higgins v. Salt Lake County, 855 P.2d 231, 233 (Utah 1993). Whether a party is entitled to summary judgment presents a question of law, the appellate court grants no deference to the trial court's legal conclusions and reviews them for correctness. See Higgins, 855 P.2d at 235; Stangl v. Ernst Home Center, 948 P.2d 356, 360 (Utah Ct. App. 1997).

II A. Did the trial court err in concluding that there were no genuine issues of material fact which would excuse the plaintiffs from the requirement that any modifications to the Real Estate Purchase Contract be in writing signed by the parties?

(Issue preserved in Record at 64-83; 165-193; 194-208; 271-77; 291-95)

Standard of Review: No deference is given to a trial court's legal conclusions which are reviewed for correctness. See Higgins, 855 P.2d at 235; Springville Citizens for a Better Community v. City of Springville, 1999 UT 25, 979 P2d 332.

II B. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in denying a Rule 56(f) extension to allow plaintiffs to conduct basic discovery for the purpose of determining if Appellees Pentad and Goodman (and the Soffe Defendants through Pentad/Goodman as their agents) were engaged in fraud, misrepresentation, or other artifice to deprive the plaintiffs of rights and benefits under their own Real Estate Purchase Contract with the Soffe Defendants? (Issue preserved in Record at 165-193; 194-208; 264-65; 271-77; 291-95)

Standard of Review: A trial court's denial of a Rule 56(f) motion for additional discovery time is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard based upon whether the discovery sought by the moving party would be legally relevant to the resolution of issues on summary judgment. Campbell, Maack & Sessions, v. Debry, 2001 UT App 397, ¶6, 38 P.3d 984; American Towers Owners Assn. v. CCI Mech., Inc., 930 P.2d 1182 (Utah 1996); Holmes v. American States Ins. Co., 2000 UT App 85, 1 P.3d 552.

III. After ruling the statute of frauds barred any oral modification of the

REPC, did the trial court err in dismissing plaintiffs' claims of fraud, breach of duty and intentional interference with contract, concluding the statute of frauds precluded these causes of action as well? (Issue preserved in Record at 291-95; 320-21; 322-25)

Standard of Review: No deference is given to a trial court's legal conclusions which are reviewed for correctness. See Springville Citizens for a Better Community v. City of Springville, 1999 UT 25, 979 P2d 332.

IV. Did the trial court err in determining that Goodman and Pentad were entitled to attorney fees and costs under the REPC as the agents of the seller? (Issue preserved in Record at 373-74; 375-86; 421-22; 423-24; 430-34)

Standard of Review: Whether attorney fees are recoverable is a question of law which is reviewed for correctness. See Selvage v. J. J. Johnson & Assocs., 910 P.2d. 1252 (Utah App. 1996).

V-VI. Was the award of attorney fees to Goodman and Pentad supported by sufficient evidence, properly allocated to covered claims, reasonable and supported by findings of fact after independent review by the trial court? (Issue preserved in Record at 373-74; 375-86; 421-22; 423-24; 430-34)

Standard of Review: Where attorney fee are awarded on summary judgment, the undisputed material facts must establish as a matter of law that the

prevailing party is entitled to the award, the amount of the award is reasonable and the award is properly attributed to covered claims. See Foote v. Clark, 962 P.2d 52, 56 (Utah 1998); Taylor v. Estate of Taylor, 770 P.2d 163 (Utah Court App. 1989).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES, RULES AND REGULATIONS

Resolution of the case necessarily involves application of the statute of frauds, specifically Utah Code Ann. § 25-5-3, which provides:

“Every contract for the leasing for a longer period than one year, or for the sale, of any lands, or any interest in lands, shall be void unless the contract, or some note or memorandum thereof, is in writing subscribed by the party by whom the lease or sale is to be made, or by his lawful agent thereunto authorized in writing.”

Utah Code Ann. § 25-5-3 (1953).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal is from an Order Granting Summary Judgment which purportedly resolved all claims against all defendants, and from the Findings/Judgment awarding attorney fees and costs to Pentad and Goodman. Plaintiffs are not appealing the Summary Judgment on their claims directly against defendants Lucy Ann Soffe Trust, and the Trust’s Trustees, Carlos R. Soffe, Vaughn C. Soffe, and Shirla S. Holt (the “Soffe

Defendants”). Nor are plaintiffs appealing the Trial Court’s award of attorney fees and costs to the Soffe Defendants.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case involves a Real Estate Purchase Contract (“REPC”) for purchase of undeveloped commercial property in Salt Lake County, Utah. Plaintiffs (C. Kurt Hoffman (“Hoffman”) and John Fericks (“Fericks”)) were the buyers for a purchase price of \$313,000. The Soffe defendants were the sellers. Defendant/Appellee Joe Goodman (“Goodman”) was the sellers’ real estate agent. Defendant/Appellee Pentad Properties, Inc. (“Pentad”) was the real estate brokerage which employed Goodman. (**R. at 54-55, 77-82**) A \$5,000 earnest money payment was deposited by plaintiffs with Pentad on February 1, 2002 when the parties signed the REPC. An additional \$10,000 non-refundable earnest money deposit was due on April 6, 2002. (**R. at 55, 77-82**).

In a telephone call between Hoffman and Goodman on March 26, 2002, plaintiffs arranged a 30-day extension of the April 6, 2002 deadline with Goodman, as agent for the sellers. Goodman committed to create a written memorial of the extension. (**R. at 195-97**) During this same conversation, Goodman discussed a possible tenant to lease space in the building plaintiffs proposed to build on the subject property. (**R. at 196**) On April 5, 2002, Hoffman again called Goodman regarding the extension. Goodman

apologized for not confirming the extension and vowed to care of it that day. **(R. at 196)**

The next day, April 6, 2002, plaintiffs, in reliance on Goodman's representations, did not tender the second earnest money payment—although they were willing and able to make the payment at that time. **(R. at 199, 273-74)**

On April 8, 2002, the very next business day after the April 6, 2002 deadline, Goodman and Pentad, on behalf of the sellers, notified plaintiffs that the deadline for the additional earnest money had expired and sellers considered the REPC void. **(R. at 197, 207, 271-74)** At this point, however, the sellers, through Goodman and Pentad, did not indicate another buyer had been lined up to buy the property. **(R. at 207)** After receiving the April 8 letter voiding the deal, Fericks inquired about the extension. During these conversations with Goodman and Carlos Soffe, the seller, plaintiffs learned that sellers, with the assistance of Goodman and Pentad, had been negotiating with new buyers who were offering more money and a quicker closing date. **(R. at 273)** More importantly, the statements of Goodman and Pentad, and other related circumstances, suggested that the negotiations with the later buyer were occurring contemporaneous with the requests for an extension of the April 6 deadline. **(R. at 273)**

Based on the curious timing of the new buyer and the apparent misrepresentations of Goodman and Pentad, plaintiffs filed their Complaint on May 6,

2002, and tendered the additional earnest money by deposit with the Court Clerk pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-1. **(R. at 1-17)** The Complaint sought the following relief against the indicated defendants:

- i. Against Pentad and Goodman: breach of real estate professional statutory and common law standards of care with regards to rights of third parties **(R. at 4-5)**;
- ii. Against Pentad and Goodman: intentional interference with contractual and economic interests **(R. at 5)**;
- iii. Against Pentad and Goodman: fraud and/or misrepresentation regarding the 30-day extension on the deadline for the additional earnest money deposit **(R. at 5)**;
- iv. Against Soffe Defendants: specific performance under the REPC **(R. at 5)**;
- v. Against Soffe Defendants: breach of contract **(R. at 5)**;
- vi. Against a John Doe Buyer: for declaratory judgment of no interest in the property as competing buyer **(R. at 5)**.

Plaintiffs sought relief variously against the defendants including: damages, specific performance, punitive and exemplary damages, and statutory damages under Utah Code

Ann. § 61-2-17(4). **(R. at 5-6)**

In very short order, defendants filed motions to dismiss **(R. at 27-53)**; the plaintiffs filed an Amended Complaint **(R. at 54-60)**; defendants answered the amended complaint **(R. at 114-26; 130-42; 143-46)**; defendants filed motions for summary judgment **(R. at 84-113, 127-29)**; plaintiffs opposed summary judgment on the legal merits and requested a Rule 56(f) extension for additional time to conduct discovery **(R. at 165-93)**; Plaintiffs issued requests for production of documents to Goodman and Pentad and noticed the deposition of Pentad's principle broker, Greg Shields, for August 29, 2002. **(R. at 264-65)** A hearing was held by the trial court on the Motions for Summary Judgment on August 19, 2002. **(R. at 266-67, 284)** Based upon the language in the REPC which required all changes to be in writing signed by parties, the trial court announced summary judgment in favor of all defendants. **(R. at 284)**

Objections followed with regard to the form and scope of the proposed Order submitted to the trial court which covered not only the claims brought directly under the REPC, but also the common law and statutory claims, particularly against Pentad and Goodman. **(R. at 291-95)** In spite of these objections, on September 30, 2002 the trial court entered the Order Granting Motion for Summary Judgment. It disposed of all claims against all defendants. **(R. at 320-21, 322-25)**

Applications for attorney fees and costs were subsequently granted over the objections of plaintiffs that argued (1) defendants Pentad and Goodman were not parties to the REPC and had no statutory or contractual basis upon which to be awarded legal expenses; (2) the claims asserted against Pentad and Goodman were not contractual in nature and did not arise out of the REPC; and (3) the requested fees were not reasonable or supported by proper evidence and findings. (**R. at 326-39, 340-61, 362-64, 365-69, 373-74, 375-86, 396-417, 421-22, 423-24, 428-29, 430-34, 435-37**)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

On appeal, plaintiffs argue the trial court erred in three primary respects: (1) granting summary judgment, (2) disposing of all claims against Goodman and Pentad based on the statute of frauds, and (3) awarding Goodman and Pentad attorney fees. Specifically, plaintiffs have alleged sufficient facts to show that the oral agreement extending the deadline is enforceable as a matter of law. Additionally, plaintiffs submitted sworn affidavits which indicate that material issues of fact exist, precluding summary judgment. Plaintiffs timely submitted discovery requests to Goodman and Pentad requesting information to support their claims. Plaintiffs requested the trial court grant them time to conduct this basic discovery pursuant to Rule 56(f). This request was denied, and plaintiffs had no opportunity to conduct basic discovery.

On the issues of the award of attorney fees to Goodman and Pentad, plaintiffs assert that the trial court erred in finding that Goodman and Pentad were entitled to attorney fees under the REPC. Goodman and Pentad are not parties or even third-party beneficiaries of the REPC. In addition to having no contractual or statutory basis for receiving fees, the award of attorney fees was not properly supported nor reasonable given the length and complexity of this litigation.

ARGUMENT

- I. Where the Parties Have an Enforceable Contract that Satisfies the Statute of Frauds, the Statute of Frauds Does Not Preclude a Subsequent Oral Modification of a Non-Material Term of the Contract.

The trial court erred in concluding that under the Statute of Frauds an oral agreement modifying when a second earnest money deposit was due was unenforceable as a matter of law. Defendants argued and the trial court ruled¹ that because the contract was for real property the statute of frauds required any oral modification of the contract to be in writing to be enforceable. Although the statute of frauds may apply to any alteration or modification of a written contract, “a recognized and accepted exception to the statute

¹ The trial court made no findings of fact or conclusions of law in granting defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment. At the hearing on defendants’ motion, the court received no evidence and the arguments by counsel followed their briefs. Accordingly, plaintiffs will refer to defendants’ arguments below because these arguments are the legal bases for the court’s grant of summary judgment.

of frauds provides, “[i]f a party has changed his position by performing an oral modification so that it would be inequitable to permit the party to found a claim upon the original agreement[,] . . . the modified agreement should be held valid.”” Fisher v. Fisher, 907 P.2d 1172, 1176-77 (Utah Ct. App. 1995) (applying exception to statute of frauds to contract for purchase of real estate) (quoting White v. Fox, 665 P.2d 1297, 1301 (Utah 1983); Bamberger Co. v. Certified Prods., Inc., 88 Utah 194, 201, 48 P.2d 489, 492 (1935), *aff’d on reh’g*, 88 Utah 213, 53 P.2d 1153 (1936)). This rule of law applies to all contracts, “even if the agreement being modified unambiguously indicates that any modifications must be in writing.” R.T. Nielson Co. v. Cook, 2002 UT 11, ¶13 n.4, 40 P.3d 1119 (citing Prince v. R.C. Tolman Const. Co., Inc., 610 P.2d 1267, 1269 (Utah 1980)). Utah case law recognizes that parties frequently orally modify contracts that must be in writing, and, in certain circumstances, these oral modifications are enforceable notwithstanding statutory or contractual provisions to the contrary. *See* Allen v. Kingdon, 723 P.2d 394, 396-97 (Utah 1986) (recognizing that oral modification of real estate contract may be enforceable where it would be inequitable based on parties’ performance under contract and oral modification); Fisher, 907 P.2d at 1176-77; Holt v. Katsanevas, 854 P.2d 575, 579-80 (Utah Ct. App. 1993) (oral modification of real estate contract could be enforced notwithstanding statute of frauds and trial court should not have

granted summary judgment on the issue).

In Fisher, the parties entered into a contract for the sale of real property. According to the buyers of the property, the seller orally agreed to postpone annual escrow payments of \$10,000. See Fisher, 907 P.2d at 1174-76. After the seller died, the seller's heirs argued that any oral agreement to postpone the escrow payments was unenforceable under the statute of frauds. The trial court and Court of Appeals disagreed and determined that the oral modification was enforceable because the buyers had changed their position and partially performed on the contract in reliance on the oral agreement. See id. at 1176-77.

Like the buyers in Fisher, plaintiffs in this case changed their position and continued to perform under the contract. Specifically, the plaintiffs had already tendered one earnest money payment on the contract. Additionally, plaintiffs were continuing to perform on the contract by taking the following actions: (1) completing their due diligence as set forth in the REPC; (2) working with the City of South Jordan for approval of development plans for the property, i.e. feasibility; (3) assembling investor money to fund the project; and (4) arranging surveys and architectural planning for the site. (R. at 195-98) Due to delays with the City of South Jordan, plaintiffs sought an extension for the payment of the second earnest money payment. Goodman and Pentad, on behalf of

the sellers, agreed to this extension. Importantly, the requested extension was not due to plaintiffs' inability to tender the required earnest money, concerns about feasibility of the plans or doubts about buying the land. (R. at 199, 271-74)

In reliance on the oral agreement, plaintiffs did not tender the earnest money payment by the deadline set forth in the REPC and continued with their feasibility study. As noted, plaintiffs were willing and able to tender the second earnest money deposit by the required deadline. (R. at 199, 274). As further corroboration of this fact, plaintiffs tendered the money to court in conjunction with filing the complaint on May 6, 2002. (R. at 4). A few days after the deadline, Goodman and Pentad, on behalf of the sellers, sent a letter indicating the contract was void due to the failure to tender the second earnest money agreement. Shortly after this letter, plaintiffs learned that the sellers, using Goodman and Pentad, had already arranged for a different buyer for the land at a higher price. Accordingly, plaintiffs lost their opportunity to purchase the land and wasted their time and effort in conducting a feasibility study.

Defendants argued the rule of law in R.T. Nielsen and Prince was not applicable because those cases did not involve a contract which needed to satisfy the statute of frauds. Instead, defendants argued Mills v. Brody, 929 P.2d 360 (Utah 1996); Stangl v. Ernst Home Center, 948 P.2d 356 (Utah Ct. App. 1997); Wardley Corp. Better

Homes & Gardens v. Burgess, 810 P.2d 476 (Utah Ct. App. 1991) controlled the issue and required any oral modification to be in writing to be enforceable. Indeed, in the circumstances presented in these cases, enforcement of the purported oral modification is not warranted. For example, in Stangl, the issue was whether promissory estoppel precluded the defense of statute of frauds. See Stangl, 948 P.2d at 360. First, the Court of Appeals discussed prior Utah case law on the issue. See id. at 360-65. Specifically, the Court of Appeals found that Utah Supreme Court had “recognized the limited application of the doctrine of promissory estoppel to the statute of frauds” Id. at 362 (citing McKinnon v. The Corporation of the President of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints, 529 P.2d 434 (Utah 1974)). The Stangl and McKinnon opinions recognized that “a mere promise to execute a written contract and a subsequent refusal to do so is insufficient to create an estoppel” Id. at 363 (quoting McKinnon, 529 P.2d at 436-37). Because the parties in Stangl had never entered into a written lease agreement, the court concluded the statute of frauds was available as a defense.

In contrast to Stangl where the issue was whether an oral agreement to enter into a contract was enforceable, the buyer and seller in this case had entered into written agreement which fully satisfied the statute of frauds. The analysis in Stangl has no relevance to whether or not an oral agreement to modify a non-material term of a valid

written contract is enforceable. Stangl addresses the statute of frauds in the context of negotiations prior to the parties actually entering into a contract.

On the other hand, in both Burgess and Mills the parties had entered into enforceable written agreements. See Burgess, 810 P.2d at 476-77; Mills, 929 P.2d at 361-62. In Burgess, the parties had entered into a written listing agreement for a six-month period. See Burgess, 810 P.2d at 476-77. Under the agreement, if the realtor found a buyer for the property, the seller would owe the realtor a commission. The day before the expiration of the listing agreement the realtor claimed the seller orally agreed to extend the listing agreement for an additional six-months. The Court of Appeals adopted the analysis of an Ohio court which recognized the oral modification was a “new contract” and modified an “essential term” of the contract. See id. at 478. Furthermore, the Utah Supreme Court had previously recognized the “unyielding duty upon real estate agents and brokers to obtain written listing agreements or face the risk of nonpayment.” Id. at 477. Based on that important policy concern with respect to real estate commission contracts and the fact that the oral modification went to a material term which essentially created a new contract, the court applied the statute of frauds and found the oral agreement unenforceable. See id. at 478.

Unlike Burgess, the parties did not orally modify an essential term of the

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