2003

John A. Fericks and C. Kurt Hoffman v. Pentad Properties, INC., and Joe Goodman : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This appeal is moot. Plaintiffs' claims are all based on an alleged oral modification of a written contract between Plaintiffs and the Sellers of the Property. In light of that fact, it is curious that Plaintiffs have not appealed the district court's grant of summary judgment in favor of the Sellers of the Property when the entire dispute centers on the Sellers' alleged failure to perform the contract. Moreover, Plaintiffs' assertion that the Statute of Frauds does not bar their claims to the Property are moot because Plaintiffs' failed to request a stay of the judgment below and the Property has since been sold to a third party.

Regardless, the district court properly held that Plaintiffs' cause of action for specific performance was barred by application of the Statute of Frauds. The alleged oral modification, even if one was made, is unenforceable under Utah Code Ann. § 25-5-3. Because each of the remaining causes of action was ultimately based on the unenforceable alleged oral modification, those claims were also properly dismissed.

The equitable doctrine of promissory estoppel does not provide an exception to the Statute of Frauds in this case. The appellate courts of this state have imposed severe

limits on the use of promissory estoppel to enforce oral agreements otherwise subject to the Statute of Frauds.

The district court properly awarded attorneys' fees to the Pentad Defendants. The REPC provides that, in the event of litigation, the prevailing party shall be entitled to attorneys' fees. The Pentad Defendants were clearly the prevailing parties, having had all claims resolved in their favor. They were also made parties to the REPC through the allegations in Plaintiffs' own pleadings. (R. 54-60). Accordingly, they were entitled to attorneys' fees. Further, the district court did not abuse its discretion in deciding on the amount of fees to which Pentad Defendants were entitled. The amount awarded was properly supported by the record and clearly within the district court's discretion.

ARGUMENT

I. This Appeal is Moot Because Not only are the Sellers not Parties to this Appeal, but the Property in Question has been Sold to a Third Party.

The bulk of the Appellants' Brief in this appeal addresses the Statute of Frauds issues applicable to the failure of the Sellers, who are parties to the REPC, to perform a contract for the sale of real property. This Court does not need address these issues, however, because this appeal is moot. Not only have the Plaintiffs failed to join the Sellers, on whom their remedy depends, in this appeal, but the Sellers of the Property have sold it and the requested remedy is now beyond reach.

A. Plaintiffs' Request for Reversal of the District Court's Grant of Summary Judgment Regarding Enforcement of the Oral Modification is now Moot.

Richards v. Baum, 914 P.2d 719 (Utah 1996), is directly on point. In *Baum*, plaintiffs sought a decree quieting title to certain real property located in Utah County. The defendants also sought to quiet title to the property in their favor. After a trial on the merits, the court quieted title in favor of the defendants. *Id.* at 720. The plaintiffs appealed but did not seek or obtain a stay of the district court's decree. Subsequently, the defendants sold the property to a third party. *Id.* At the appellate level, the defendants moved to dismiss the appeal, "contending that it ha[d] become moot." *Id.* This Court held that "[w]here the issues that were before the trial court no longer exist, the appellate court will not review the case." *Id.* (citing *McRae v. Jackson*, 526 P.2d 1190, 1191 (Utah 1974); *Mikkelsen v. Utah State Tax Comm'n*, 22 Utah 2d 438, 439-40, 455 P.2d 27, 27 (1969)). The *Richards* Court further held that "[t]his court has never held that when an appellant fails to obtain a stay and the property sought is conveyed in good faith to a third party, the appellant is entitled to return to the trial court to have damages awarded if successful on appeal." *Id.* at 721. *See also Kellch v. Westland Minerals Corp.*, 484 P.2d 726 (Utah 1971) (the court was without power to grant any relief to the plaintiff/appellant where the subject matter of the litigation was sold after judgment at the district court level).

The same circumstances exist here. The Property has been sold, and, further, the Sellers of the Property, from whom the essential remedy must be obtained, were not made parties to this appeal.

The fact of mootness is manifest and best illustrated by the relief Plaintiffs request from this Court. Plaintiffs seek an order reversing the summary judgment awarded by the district court. If this Court granted that relief, the case would be remanded to the district court to adjudicate claims against the Sellers for specific performance of a contract to purchase land that no longer belongs to the Sellers. The Sellers were dismissed from the case by the district court with prejudice and cannot be sued again because no appeal was taken from that order. Consequently, a party that is essential to the relief requested cannot be restored as a party litigant. Therefore, at this point in time, it is of no consequence whether an enforceable oral modification was made or whether the Statute of Frauds was properly applied.

It is difficult to ascertain what relief Plaintiffs now seek in raising these issues on appeal. Each of the causes of action of Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint relies on enforcement of the oral modification of the REPC. Otherwise, Plaintiffs would not raise the issue of the oral modification on appeal. Moreover, Plaintiffs do not state, nor have they ever stated, claims against Goodman and Pentad that exist independently of their claimed right to have the benefit of performance of the REPC, which is now impossible in any event. As this Court made clear in *Richards v. Baum*, Plaintiffs cannot uncouple

their damages claims from their underlying claims on the contract against the Sellers, forfeit those claims, and then expect to obtain independent relief in money damages against the Sellers' agents who have no ability to respond in specific performance by delivering title to the Property. Plaintiffs offer no rational explanation for their failure to pursue appeal of the dismissal of the claims against the Sellers or to at least attempt to obtain a stay of enforcement of the district court's judgment. Whatever the reason, they have forfeited their ability to obtain any relief on appeal.

B. Plaintiffs' Request for Reversal of the District Court's Denial of Their Rule 56(f) Request is Likewise Moot.

Plaintiffs' argument that the district court erred in denying their request for additional discovery under Utah R. Civ. P. 56(f) is also premised on their contention that the contract claims asserted below are still at issue on appeal. (Appellant's Brief, pp. 19-22). Plaintiffs describe the facts that they sought to discover and then maintain that "if proven at trial, these facts are sufficient to make the oral agreement enforceable." *Id.* at 22. If that is true, and the district court erred in refusing to allow them to conduct discovery of these facts, which they then prove at trial, the question then becomes one of what they can recover upon enforcement of the oral agreement. The answer is, nothing. The alleged oral agreement cannot be enforced because the Sellers are no longer parties

to this litigation (and cannot be sued again) and, furthermore, they no longer hold title to the Property. Additional discovery cannot overcome the fact of mootness of this appeal.⁴

Plaintiffs admit that their desire to have the district court's ruling refusing their request under Rule 56(f) reversed is so that they can prove that the oral agreement should be enforced. Not only did the district court properly exercise its discretion in denying that relief to Plaintiffs, the point is now moot and need not be adjudicated.

II. The Relief Sought by Plaintiffs is Barred by the Explicit Language of the Statute of Frauds, Utah Code Ann. § 25-5-3.

There is no dispute that this action concerns a contract for the sale of real property. It involves nothing more than a commercial real estate transaction memorialized by an integrated written agreement reached between sophisticated parties experienced in real

⁴ Under Rule 56(f), a court may refuse to grant a motion for summary judgment, if it can be shown "from the affidavits of a party opposing the motion" that he "cannot for reasons stated present by affidavits facts essential to justify his opposition." Utah. R. Civ. P. 56(b). Neither the Plaintiffs nor their counsel filed an affidavit in the district court stating the reasons why the motion for summary judgment should not be granted until discovery has been taken. "A majority of federal cases interpreting an identical Rule 56(f) hold that filing an affidavit is necessary for the preservation of a Rule 56(f) contention that summary judgment should be delayed pending further discovery." *Callioux v. Progressive Ins. Co.*, 745 P.2d 838, 841 (Utah Ct. App. 1987) (citing *Mid-South Grizzlies v. National Football League*, 720 F.2d 772, 780 n.4 (3d Cir. 1983)). The Utah Supreme Court has refused to consider an argument that further discovery is necessary when the appellant fails to file a Rule 56(f) affidavit. *Jackson v. Layton City*, 743 P.2d 1196, 1198 (Utah 1987). Because Plaintiffs failed to file a Rule 56(f) affidavit in the district court stating in detail why discovery should be taken, and what facts they sought discover, this argument should be rejected without consideration.

estate transactions dealing with one another at arms length.⁵ For that reason, a simple application of the Statute of Frauds to plain terms of the parties' agreement, which is clearly within the Statute of Frauds, bars all of Plaintiffs' claims as a matter of law.

Several provisions of the REPC are critical to an analysis of the facts presented to this Court.

Addendum One to the REPC imposes an absolute deadline by which Plaintiffs are required to: (1) pay \$10,000 additional, non-refundable earnest money to the Sellers; and, (2) to complete a feasibility study which, according to the Amended Complaint, involved "acquiring approval from the City of South Jordan for the development plan." (R. 14, 56, 82). The Addendum further provided that if the Plaintiffs failed to satisfy these conditions, "Seller may void this contract at its option." (R. 14, 82).

The REPC also contains the following integration clause:

14. COMPLETE CONTRACT: This instrument (together with its Addenda and any attached Exhibits and Seller Disclosures) constitutes the entire contract between the parties and supersedes all prior dealings between the parties. This Contract cannot be changed except by written agreement of the parties.

(R. 80, 12).

⁵ As the REPC shows, Hoffman is, himself, a licensed real estate broker. Hoffman is listed in the REPC as the buyer's agent through his brokerage, Canyon Rim Realty. (R. 10, 78).

A. If an Agreement is Subject to the Statute of Frauds, any Subsequent Modification of the Agreement Must Also Satisfy the Requirements of the Statute of Frauds to be Enforceable.

Plaintiffs devote much of their brief on appeal, and much of their opposition to summary judgment in the district court proceedings, to the proposition that, notwithstanding Paragraph 14 of the REPC, Utah law clearly supports oral modification of a contract even if the contract provides otherwise.

Plaintiffs are correct in their assertion that Utah courts have held, as a general proposition, that oral modifications to contracts can be enforced even if the original writing requires that all modifications must be in writing. However, the line of cases allowing oral modifications of contracts provides no refuge for Plaintiffs. While Utah decisional law holds that parties may orally agree to waive, modify or alter agreements not subject to the Statute of Frauds notwithstanding provisions in contracts similar or identical to Paragraph 14 of the REPC, the law is equally clear that **“if an original agreement is within the statute of frauds, a subsequent agreement that modifies the original agreement must also satisfy the requirements of the statute of frauds to be enforceable.”** *R.T. Nielson Co. v. Cook*⁶, 2002 UT 11, ¶ 13, n.4, 40 P.3d 119, 1124, n.4

⁶ Plaintiffs rely heavily on *R.T. Nielson Co.* in arguing that oral modifications of contracts containing provisions prohibiting such modifications are nonetheless valid. Although *R.T. Nielson Co.* does support that general proposition, it is easily distinguishable from the present case. *R.T. Nielson Co.* involved the oral modification of a contract to provide consulting services, the subject matter of which is not within the Statute of Frauds. 40 P.3d at 1120.

(citing *Golden Key Realty v. Mantis*, 699 P.2d 730, 732 (Utah 1985) (“The rule is well settled in Utah that if an original agreement is within the statute of frauds, a subsequent agreement which modifies the original agreement must also satisfy the requirements of the statute of frauds to be enforceable.”)). *See also, Mills v. Brody*, 929 P.2d 360, 364 (Utah 1996) (Option to purchase real property is within the Statute of Frauds and, therefore, oral extension of the option exercise deadline is not enforceable.).

Because the REPC is subject to the Statutes of Frauds, Paragraph 14 is clearly enforceable since it merely demands compliance with the Statute of Frauds. Contract clauses similar to Paragraph 14 of the REPC and the Statute of Frauds are designed to obviate the very type of dispute that is the gravamen of this action.

B. The Doctrine of Promissory Estoppel is not Applicable to the Undisputed Facts of This Case.

The only writing alleged by the Amended Complaint to exist which memorializes the agreement between the Sellers and Plaintiffs is the REPC, which contains a firm deadline of April 6, 2002, for the payment of additional earnest money and completion of the feasibility study. The allegations of the Amended Complaint, and the basis of each cause of action stated therein, rest entirely on the enforceability of an alleged oral agreement modifying material obligations of a contract to sell real property asserted in violation of both the Statute of Frauds and the terms of the REPC itself.

The Amended Complaint alleges that Plaintiffs justifiably relied on Goodman’s alleged oral representation of an extension of a critical deadline of the written contract

thereby raising, by implication, some variety of promissory estoppel or quasi-contract theory. Indeed, such theories are the only means through which Plaintiffs could possibly argue that their Amended Complaint is not categorically barred by the Statutes of Frauds. This Court, however, has resolved such claims in favor of enforcing the Statute of Frauds and barring equitable theories to the contrary.

For example, in *Stangl v. Ernst Home Center, Inc.*, 948 P.2d 356 (Utah Ct. App. 1997), the Utah Court of Appeals considered the question of whether the doctrine of promissory estoppel bars assertion of, or provides an exception to, the defense of Statute of Frauds where the agreement in issue is otherwise subject to it. The Court, considering facts much more compelling in favor of application of promissory estoppel than those alleged here, rejected the notion of promissory estoppel furnishing an exception to the Statute of Frauds. The Court reasoned that “[a] mere refusal to perform an oral agreement within the Statute [of Frauds], however, is not such fraud as it will justify a court in disregarding the statute [of Frauds] even though it result[s] in hardship to the plaintiff.” *Id.* at 362 (citing *Easton v. Wycoff*, 295 P.2d 332, 333-34 (Utah 1956)). This Court explained its ruling by addressing the issue in the context of formation of a contract:

Fraud generally cannot be predicated upon the failure to perform a promise or contract which is unenforceable under the Statute of Frauds, for the promissor has not, in the legal sense, *made a contract*; and therefore, he has the right, both in law and in equity, to refuse to perform.

Stangl, 948 P.2d at 362⁷ (citing *McKinnon v. Corporation of the President of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints*, 529 P.2d 434, 435 (Utah 1974) (emphasis added). See also, *Homestead Golf Club, Inc. v. Pride Stables*, 224 F.3d 1195, 1202 (10th Cir. 2000) (same).

Consequently, even if Goodman made the oral promise, which he did not, the subject matter of which is, unquestionably, subject to the Statute of Frauds, there is no promise made at all, and no enforcement of it can be imposed. The solution to Plaintiffs' apparent dilemma was prescribed by the *Stangl* court: "A party concerned about the assertion of the Statute of Frauds could easily protect itself by demanding written commitments before acting in reliance on the negotiations." *Stangl*, 948 P.2d at 365.

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